THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 18 2016

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Keith R. Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-42-1759
Appellate Case No. 2016-000232

Denise Parker, Appellant,

v.

The National Honorary Beta Club, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas A. Bright (S.C. Bar # 884)
David L. Harris, Jr. (S.C. Bar # 101748)
OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH,
SMOAK & STEWART, P.C.
300 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-1300 (telephone)
(864) 235-4754 (facsimile)
Thomas.Bright@odnss.com
David.Harris@odnss.com

Attorneys for Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

South Carolina law bars the recovery of punitive damages in actions for breach of contract unless fraudulent intent relating to the breach *and* a separate distinct fraudulent act accompanying the breach are established by competent evidence. Despite the fact that the person who terminated her employment had no personal knowledge of her alleged employment contract, Denise Parker contends that her discharge and the reason for her discharge constitute both a breach of contract and an accompanying fraudulent act. Is Parker entitled to punitive damages on her cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the narrow issue of whether a plaintiff can recover punitive damages for breach of an alleged employment contract absent evidence of specific fraudulent intent relating to the breach and a separate and distinct fraudulent act accompanying the breach. This suit was brought by Denise Parker (“Parker”) against her former employer, the National Honorary Beta Club (“the Beta Club”) on or about April 29, 2014. Parker’s initial Complaint alleged causes of action for breach of an oral employment contract and promissory estoppel. After the Beta Club filed its timely Answer, the Parties engaged in extensive discovery including the taking of six (6) depositions. The parties also participated in mediation but were unable to reach a settlement. Following the close of discovery, Parker amended her Complaint to add a cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act.

Judge Keith Kelly of the Seventh Circuit denied the Beta’s Club’s motion for summary judgment and the Parties proceeded to a jury trial before Judge Kelly on Parker’s contractual claims beginning September 28, 2015. Judge Kelly held Parker’s promissory estoppel claim under advisement pending a jury verdict. At the close of Parker’s case in chief, and again at the close of all evidence, the Beta Club moved for directed verdict on the grounds that it never formed an oral employment contract with Parker and that Parker failed to present the evidence required to make out a claim for breach of contract accompanied by fraud. In particular, the Beta Club argued that Parker had presented neither evidence of a fraudulent intent related to the breaching of her employment contract nor evidence of an independent fraudulent act accompanying the breach.¹ Judge Kelly denied the Beta Club’s motions and submitted the case to the jury.

¹ PR Tr. Vol. 2 pp. 263-267; PR Tr. Vol. 3 pp.615-617,622-623.

On October 2, 2015, the jury returned a verdict for Parker on both contractual claims. The jury awarded Parker \$518,006 in actual damages and punitive damages in the amount of \$350,000 on her claim for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act. While Judge Kelly denied the Beta Club's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, a new trial, and entered judgment in favor of Parker on or about December 15, 2015, a written order was not issued until January 6, 2016.² The Beta Club did not receive the court's written order denying its post-trial motion until January 11, 2016. On February 5th 2015, the Beta Club satisfied the actual damages portion of the award (\$518,006 plus applicable post-judgment interest) by bank wire transfer to Parker in the gross amount (before taxes) of \$530,909.24 and served its Notice of Appeal with regard to the portion of the jury's verdict awarding Parker punitive damages in the amount of \$350,000 on her claim for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act.³

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. RELEVANT FACTS

Denise Parker was employed by the Beta Club for approximately 38 years in a variety of clerical and support staff positions.⁴ In 2013, Parker worked as support staff to the National Sponsors and Leadership Development team in The Beta Club's Convention Department.⁵ During the late summer and fall of that year, two of the three National Sponsors in Parker's

² Judge Kelly's Written Order of Judgment Issued January 5, 2016.

³ The Beta Club's Notice of Appeal, Filed February 5, 2016.

⁴ Paper Record, Trial Transcript, September 28, 2015, Volume 1, pp. 99 – 101, 137-139.

⁵ *Id.* at pp. 142-145; PR Tr. Vol. 2. pp.426-427; Paper Record, Defendant's Trial Exhibit No. 1, Convention Coordinator Job Description; PR Tr. Def. Tr. Ex. No. 9, 2013 Organizational Chart.

Department—Ritchie Garland and Shannon Meyer—reached out to the Executive Director/CEO/President of the Beta Club, Bob Bright, about difficulties they were having working with Parker.⁶ In particular, Garland and Meyer complained that Parker had not been helpful with tasks in their Department.⁷ During this time, Bob Bright also noticed that Parker was not getting along with her co-workers and was demonstrating a negative attitude.⁸ On October 21, 2015, Bright met with Parker to discuss her performance and presented Parker with an Employee Conference note identifying specific concerns about her attitude and job performance.⁹ Parker admits that this meeting with Bright led her to conclude that Bright was not pleased with her performance, that she was on “thin ice,” and that she feared she might be terminated.¹⁰

On October 25, 2013, the Beta Club’s Staff Liaison Committee (to which Parker was a member) held its regularly scheduled meeting with the Beta Club Board’s Internal Affairs Committee to discuss staff related issues.¹¹ In attendance at the meeting were Internal Affairs Committee members Pat Stout, Dennis Campbell, Stan Long, Mark Conley, and Ken Dinkins.¹² Staff Liaison Committee members Parker, Pat Mabry, and Barbara Anderson were the only Beta

⁶ PR. Tr. Vol 2, pp. 296-298,303-326, 352-354; 356-368, 371-374; PR. Tr. Vol. 3 pp. 434-439.

⁷ *Id.*

⁸ PR. Tr. Vol. 3 pp. 427-439.

⁹ *Id.* at 439- 446; PR. Tr. Vol. 1, pp.105-109, 158-160, PR Def. Tr. Ex. No. 6, Employee Conference Note Dated October 21, 2013.

¹⁰ *Id.* at 160.

¹¹ PR Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 111- 113, 115-116; Plaintiff’s Trial Exhibit No. 2, Staff Liaison Committee Procedures.

¹² PR. Tr. Vol. 1 pp. 112-118; PR Tr. Vol. 3 pp. 562-563.

Club staff members present. Bright did not attend the October 25 meeting between the Internal Affairs Committee and the Staff Liaison Committee.¹³ At the meeting, Parker was hesitant to speak up about the written warning she received from Bright on October 21 because she was afraid of losing her job after Bright expressed his concerns about her performance several days earlier.¹⁴ After Parker was encouraged to express her concerns by another staff member attending the meeting, Ken Dinkins, a Board member and member of the Internal Affairs Committee, told Parker “[I]f we ask you a question, you have to answer it and Bob Bright can’t fire you for that.”¹⁵ It is this single statement which Parker argued was her alleged contract with the Beta Club. Parker then went on to speak about her meeting with Bright on October 21, talk about how she feared for her job, and express her concerns about the Beta Club.¹⁶ The entire exchange lasted only a few minutes.¹⁷

On November 4, 2013, Bright met with Parker again to discuss her attitude and performance issues.¹⁸ Bright’s Executive Assistant, Laura Lewis, also attended that meeting.¹⁹ It is uncontradicted that Bright did not enter that meeting with the intention of terminating Parker’s employment.²⁰ Rather, Bright’s intent was to reemphasize his concerns expressed in the

¹³ PR Tr. Vol. 3 pp. 562-566.

¹⁴ PR Tr. Vol. 1. pp. 115-117, 160.

¹⁵ *Id.* at 117.

¹⁶ *Id.* at 117 – 118.

¹⁷ PR. Tr. Vol. 3 pp. 564-565.

¹⁸ PR Tr. Vol. 1. pp 119-121, 162-163; PR Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 446 – 448, 453-454.

¹⁹ PR Tr. Vol. 1. pp. 119; PR Tr. Vol. 3 p. 453.

²⁰ PR Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 453-455.

October 21, 2013, meeting.²¹ During the meeting, Bright, again, presented Parker with an Employee Conference note and expressed concerns about Parker’s negativity and her job performance.²² Bright felt that Parker’s attitude had not changed since their last meeting.²³ Bright also believed that Parker was not answering her e-mails after receiving information from the Beta Club’s IT Manager, James Moore, showing that Parker had sent very few e-mails compared to the amount of e-mails she and the Department received during the same period.²⁴ Bright did not meet with Parker on November 4 with the intention of terminating her employment.²⁵ During the meeting, however, Bright believed that Parker expressed an unwillingness to adjust her attitude and he ultimately terminated Parker’s employment at the conclusion of the meeting.²⁶

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

South Carolina appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*.²⁷ “In other words, a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.”²⁸ Because breach of contract based on employment agreements are by definition actions at law,

²¹ *Id.*

²² *Id.*

²³ *Id.*

²⁴ *Id.* at 448-453.

²⁵ *Id.* at 453-455.

²⁶ PR Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 453-455.

²⁷ See *Proctor v. Steedley*, 398 S.C. 561, 573, 730 S.E.2d 357, 363 (Ct.App.2012).

²⁸ *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 570, 776 S.E.2d 397, 402 (Ct. App. 2015), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 16, 2015).

the jurisdiction of this court extends merely to correct errors of law.²⁹ The factual findings of the jury cannot be disturbed on appeal unless there record does not contain any evidence supporting the jury's findings.³⁰

“When reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, this Court must employ the same standard as the trial court—that is, we must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”³¹ Such motions must only be granted when only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence.³² The Court must only concern itself with the existence or non-existence of evidence in the record; the weight of the evidence is of no consequence.³³

III. DISCUSSION

The Beta Club has appealed the trial court's decision to deny its motions for directed verdict and JNOV on Parker's claim for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act on the grounds that Parker failed to present evidence sufficient to warrant an award of punitive damages. Punitive damages can only be awarded when a plaintiff puts forth clear and convincing evidence that the defendant acted in a willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of the

²⁹ See *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 386 S.C. 1, 8, 685 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd as modified*, 399 S.C. 23, 731 S.E.2d 288 (2012).

³⁰ See *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

³¹ *Sauers v. Poulin Bros. Homes*, 328 S.C. 601, 605, 493 S.E.2d 503, 504-05 (Ct. App. 1997).

³² *Brady Dev. Co. v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 312 S.C. 73, 439 S.E.2d 266 (1993).

³³ See *Long v. Norris & Associates, Ltd.*, 342 S.C. 561, 568, 538 S.E.2d 5, 9 (Ct. App. 2000).

plaintiff's rights.³⁴ The court below erroneously submitted Parker's claim for punitive damages to the jury, and in the face of clear precedent to the contrary, refused to set it aside. As explained below, neither the record nor the controlling authority in this State supports the trial court's decision to submit Parker's claim for breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act to the jury or the jury's award of punitive damages.

A. Bob Bright could not have formed the requisite fraudulent intent as it relates to Parker's employment contract.

At trial, Parker had the burden of presenting the jury with evidence upon which they could reasonably infer a fraudulent intent relating to the breach of her alleged employment contract with the Beta Club.³⁵ The law in South Carolina is clear that in order for a person to harbor dishonest designs as it relates to the breaching of a contract, they must have some personal knowledge of the agreement.³⁶ The rule requiring personal knowledge is rooted as much in logic as it is the law. Indeed, how can a person have dishonest designs to breach a contract without having some knowledge that an enforceable contract exists in the first place? To conclude that someone could have a fraudulent intent with regard to a specific contract without having any knowledge of that contract and its terms defies reason, common sense, and logic.

Parker's attempt to obtain punitive damages in this case unravels once the law, reason, common sense and logic are considered. There is nothing in the record to establish that Bob

³⁴ *Keane v. Lowcountry Pediatrics, P.A.*, 372 S.C. 136, 148, 641 S.E.2d 53, 60 (Ct. App. 2007).

³⁵ *See e.g. Zinn v. CFI Sales & Mktg., Ltd.*, 415 S.C. 93,111, 780 S.E.2d 611,621 (Ct. App. 2015)("Breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act...requires proof of fraudulent intent relating to the breaching of the contract and not merely to its making.")(citations omitted).

³⁶ *Thompson v. Home Sec. Life Ins.*, 271 S.C. 54, 55, 244 S.E.2d 533, 534 (1978); *see also D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Wescott Land Co., LLC*, 398 S.C. 528, 556, 730 S.E.2d 340, 355 (Ct. App. 2012), *aff'd in part as modified, vacated in part*, 410 S.C. 319, 764 S.E.2d 701 (2014)(noting that there must be a showing of fraudulent intent related to the breach).

Bright, the person who terminated Parker's employment, had even the faintest knowledge of her alleged employment contract with the Beta Club. Accordingly, there was nothing upon which the jury could infer fraudulent intent relating to the breaching of Parker's alleged employment contract, and the punitive damages award must be set aside.

1. The discipline Parker received on October 21, 2013, fails to establish personal knowledge or fraudulent intent pertaining to Parker's subsequent alleged contract.

Evidence relating to Bright's alleged "fraudulent intent" in relation to Parker's contract begins with the Conference Note Parker received on October 21, 2013 ("the Note").³⁷ The Note itself, which is disciplinary in nature, speaks of various issues relating to Parker's performance including:

- Failure to sustain professional strategy;
- Does not demonstrate an exceptional mastery of professional skills; and
- Professional manner in which coworkers are addressed.³⁸

The Note further states that Parker should maintain a professional image, assist coworkers in meeting department objectives, and provide positive assistance to coworkers. At trial, Parker testified that Bright told her the warning was "long past due."³⁹ Parker further testified that Bright was critical of her for not helping other staff and not addressing coworkers professionally.⁴⁰ Bright testified that he spoke with Plaintiff about her negativity and her failure

³⁷ PR. Def. Tr. Ex. No. 6, Employee Conference Note Dated October 21, 2013.

³⁸ *Id.*

³⁹ PR Tr. Vol. 1 at 106.

⁴⁰ *Id.* at 106, 153– 155; 158-160.

to cooperate with others.⁴¹ Parker testified that after receiving the Note on October 21, 2013, she was scared for her job, that she knew Bright was not happy with her performance, that she was on thin ice, and that she thought she might be fired.⁴²

Parker contends that Bright's reasons for the discipline she received on October 21 were dishonest, pretextual, and evidence of dishonest design by Bright.⁴³ But whether Parker's assessment of the discipline was correct or not, it is of no consequence as it relates to Parker's alleged employment agreement. Parker's alleged contract with the Beta Club did not come into being until October 25, 2013, when she met with the Internal Affairs Committee of the Board. How could Bright's actions and words on October 21 possibly reflect a fraudulent intent to breach a contract that had not yet come into existence? Even if Bright was only looking for an excuse to terminate Parker and he used the October 21 warning to falsely critique Plaintiff's performance as a pretext to accomplish that goal, that evidence is in no way related to Parker's subsequent alleged employment contract. Simply put, Bright could not, factually or legally, have formed the specific intent to fraudulently breach an alleged contract that would not come into being until four (4) days later. Whatever the jury may have concluded about Bright's October 21 discipline, or his motives, one thing is clear: his alleged fraudulent intent could not be related to the breach of an alleged contract that had not yet come into existence.

⁴¹ PR Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 439- 446.

⁴² PR Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 115-117, 160.

⁴³ Parker's Brief in Opposition to Post-Trial Motions, 9-12.

2. Bright's critique of Parker's responsiveness to e-mails also fails to establish personal knowledge or dishonest intent relating to Parker's alleged employment contract.

Parker's attempt to use Bright's criticisms pertaining to her responsiveness to e-mails similarly fails to establish a fraudulent intent related to the alleged contract. The e-mail memorandum Bright sent to Melody Cooper on October 22, 2013, critiquing Cooper's Departments' (which at the time included Plaintiff) responsiveness to e-mails suffers from the same deficiency as the evidence and testimony related to Bright's October 21 warning. Bright sent the memorandum to Cooper on October 22, three (3) days before Parker's alleged employment contract came into existence.⁴⁴ Again, even if Bright's sole aim in raising the issue of unanswered e-mails was to manufacture false reasons for the purpose of terminating Parker's employment and his criticisms were fabricated and untrue, such evidence cannot show a fraudulent intent related to Parker's alleged contract as it did not yet exist.

3. There is no evidence that Bright knew of the existence of Parker's alleged employment contract when he terminated her employment on November 4, 2013.

In order for Bright to have formed the requisite fraudulent intent relating to the breach of Parker's alleged contract, he would have to have some personal knowledge of the alleged agreement. But there is absolutely no evidence in the record to support the conclusion that Bright had any personal knowledge of Parker's alleged single-term employment contract on November 4, 2013. Parker never testified to having told Bright what Dinkins told her in the October 25th meeting, and she did not testify that Bright told her he knew about the alleged agreement. In fact, Parker testified that she did not know of any board member in attendance at the October

⁴⁴ PR Tr. Vol. 2 pp. 208- 214; PR Tr. Vol. 3 at 449; PR Def. Tr. Ex. No. 8, Bob Bright's E-mail to Melody Cooper dated October 22, 2013.

25th Internal Affairs Committee meeting informing Bright of what was discussed at the meeting.⁴⁵ Similarly, Ken Dinkins testified that he never told Bright about his alleged “promise” that Bright could not fire Parker for talking with the Internal Affairs Committee.⁴⁶ Dinkins also testified that he did not know of any other board member who spoke to Bright about the alleged promise made to Parker during the October 25 meeting.⁴⁷ Bright himself testified that he knew nothing about the alleged promise Dinkins made to Parker when he terminated Parker’s employment.⁴⁸ In short, the record is devoid of any evidence that anyone said anything to Bright to put him on notice of the alleged promise made to Parker during the October 25 meeting with the Internal Affairs Committee (*i.e.*, the alleged contract which forms the basis of Parker’s claim).

The only evidence in the record relating to Bright’s knowledge of what was discussed during the October 25th meeting with the Internal Affairs Committee stops far short of establishing Bright’s personal knowledge of Parker’s alleged employment contract. Dinkins testified that he told Bright that he heard that some employees were afraid for their jobs and that Bright should consider providing employees with due process prior to discharge.⁴⁹ Dinkins testified that he made those comments to Bright following the October 25th meeting without referencing any names of employees or specifics from the meeting.⁵⁰ Parker testified that Bright

⁴⁵ PR Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 161-162.

⁴⁶ PR. Tr. Vol. 3, pp. 566-567.

⁴⁷ *Id.*

⁴⁸ *Id.* at 455-456.

⁴⁹ *Id.* at 567.

⁵⁰ *Id.*

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