THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case Number 2016-000232

Civil Action Number 2014-CP-42-1759

RECEIVED
SFP 29 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Denise Parker Respondent,

v.

The National Honorary Beta Club Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brian P. Murphy
Stephenson & Murphy, LLC
207 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 370-9400
(864) 240-9292
brian@stephensonmurphy.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

A. Appellant's first argument: fraudulent intent.

1. Appellant has not preserved the issues.

Section A of Appellant's argument is dedicated to the proposition that if Bob Bright did not know of the promise made to Parker by Appellant, he could harbor no fraudulent intent in breaching the same. (Appellant Initial Br. at 8-13).

However, Appellant stated only one ground in its post-trial Motions regarding the BOCAFA claim. Although the issue pressed below relates to Appellant's second argument here (regarding *independent fraudulent acts*), Appellant's argument had nothing to do with the issue of fraudulent *intent*. Appellant's motion was limited to the following: "Appellant is entitled to judgment on Parkers breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act claim because Parker failed to present evidence of an independent fraudulent act accompanying the alleged breach of contract." (R. p. 53). Likewise, the thrust of Appellant's directed verdict motions was that Parker's mere disagreement with the reasons for her termination,⁵ and her claim that the reasons have changed, did not

⁵ These earlier and self-serving characterizations by Appellant of Parker's positions are inaccurate as well.

evidence an independent fraudulent act on the part of Appellant. (R. p. 213, line 20 – p. 216, line 11; *id.* p. 441, lines 7-20).⁶ The fraudulent intent issues were not properly raised either at directed verdict or in the Motion JNOV.

Not only did Appellant not raise the fraudulent intent argument in its October 12 post-trial Motion (Def. Motion JNOV or New Trial), Appellant actually took the opposite view that it now takes. In Appellant's supporting Memorandum, it said: "Even if [Parker] presented sufficient evidence to show that Bright lied to her about the reasons for her discharge, **this would only establish that the contract was breached with a fraudulent intent or purpose.**" (R. p. 66 (emphasis added)). That is precisely what the jury found.

Appellant's untimely Supplemental Memorandum raised, for the first time, the contrary argument as to whether Parker presented evidence of fraudulent intent,⁷ whether the October 21 warning Bright issued evidences fraudulent intent, whether fraudulent intent can be inferred from facts preceding the formation of the contract, and whether Bright knew about the contract. (R. pp. 92-96). Such arguments, however, are not preserved because they were not timely raised.

⁶ In the first DV motion, *after* the portion of the motion addressing BOCAFA, Appellant argued about Bright's knowledge, but only in the context of the element of whether there was a breach as to the separate contract cause of action. (Tr. p. 220, line 20 – p. 221, line 8). That is far different from the argument pressed here and, because the context is different, the issue is not preserved.

⁷ At trial, counsel for Appellant made passing reference to "fraudulent intent" in the context of mentioning it as an element and the argument that a mere disagreement with the reason is not evidence of fraudulent intent (an argument Defendant presses in Section B of its Argument). (Tr. p. 213, lines 17-18; *id.* p. 216, lines 4-5). This is not proper preservation and that is not the issue here.

Appellant's untimely arguments raised in December, 2015, also are not preserved because they were not ruled on.

Appellant also never objected to the jury charge or pressed for an instruction as to the purported requirement of knowledge it now seeks to advance as grounds for reversal. The trial court charged the jury as to the BOCAFA claim. (R. p. 450, line 14 – p. 451, line 11). Appellant raised no objection to the jury charges (R. p. 692, lines 16-20). It did not raise the issue in its new trial motion, and Appellant has not appealed the denial of its new trial motion.

Finally, Appellant interjects a new argument that Parker had to present clear and convincing evidence of willful, wanton, or reckless conduct. (Initial Brief at 7-8 & n. 34, 13 & n. 53). This was never raised, and it was never ruled upon.

The black-letter principles of issue preservation are well settled in South Carolina: "There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." *S.C. DOT v. First Carolina Corp.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting Honorable Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed. 2002)).

As to the first requirement, "only grounds raised in the directed verdict motion may properly be asserted in the JNOV motion." The Honorable Jean Hoefer Toal, Amelia Walker & Margaret E. Baker, *Appellate Practice in South*

Carolina 208 (3d ed. 2016) (citations omitted); *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 409 S.C. 392, 413, 415, 762 S.E.2d 54, 65-66 (Ct. App. 2014) (citations omitted).

Likewise, an issue is not preserved unless it also is raised in a post-trial motion. “Issues . . . which were not raised in a post-trial motion are not preserved for appeal.” *Dixon v. Besco Eng’g*, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. Partnership*, 310 S.C. 408, 426 S.E.2d 828 (Ct. App. 1993)); *SSI Med. Services, Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 499, 392 S.E.2d 789, 793 (1990) (“Although this issue was raised in Cox’s answer to SSI’s complaint, it was never . . . raised in an appropriate post-trial motion. Therefore, this issue is not properly before this Court.”).

The first element also requires that the issue be ruled upon. The trial court never ruled on the arguments Appellant attempted to raise months after the deadline for post-trial motions, and Appellant never moved for reconsideration.⁸ “It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to **and ruled upon** by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (emphasis added, citations omitted); *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

⁸ If an issue is properly and timely raised and not ruled upon, it is incumbent on the appellant to file a Rule 59(e) Motion prior to attempting to argue that matter in this Court. *Home Med. Sys. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009). However, a “party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to present an issue to the court that could have been raised prior to judgment but was not so raised.” *S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 380 S.C. 349, 380, 669 S.E.2d 899, 915 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations omitted), *rev’d on other grounds*, 390 S.C. 418, 702 S.E.2d 246 (2010).

The third element of preservation requires that the issue be raised in a timely manner. Here, Appellant sought to raise additional arguments months after the expiration of the deadline for post-trial motions (that the trial court did not address and therefore did not rule upon). These also are barred. An issue cannot be preserved if not timely raised in accordance with the rules. S.C. *Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 380 S.C. 349, 379, 669 S.E.2d 899, 915 (Ct. App. 2008) ("To preserve an issue for appeal, it must be . . . raised in a timely manner . . .") (citing *First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. at 301-302, 641 S.E.2d at 907), *rev'd on other grounds*, 390 S.C. 418, 702 S.E.2d 246 (2010). Rule 7(b)(1) is explicit. "An application to the court for an order shall be by motion . . . , in writing, [and] shall state **with particularity** the grounds therefor" Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP (emphasis added). The time for specifying grounds for any post-trial relief was ten days after the verdict of October 2, 2016. Rule 50(e), SCRCP. New arguments raised after that time are not preserved.

The fourth element of preservation requires that, unlike here, issues be raised with clarity and specificity. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("[T]he issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge."); S.C. *Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 380 S.C. 349, 379-80, 669 S.E.2d 899, 915 (Ct. App. 2008) ("To preserve an issue for appeal, it must be . . . raised . . . with sufficient specificity.") (citing *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C.

295, 301-302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007)), *rev'd on other grounds*, 390 S.C. 418, 431, 702 S.E.2d 246, 253 (2010).

As to trial and post-trial motions, Rule 50(a) is clear: "A motion for a directed verdict shall state the specific grounds therefor." Rule 50(a), SCRCP; *RFT Mgmt. Co., L.L.C. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E.2d 166, 170 (2012) ("A party making a motion for a directed verdict must state the specific grounds relied upon therefor . . .").

Appellant cannot cherry pick contract arguments made at trial and later alter them to argue fraudulent intent issues on appeal. This Court has made clear that grounds for reversal must have been specifically presented to the trial court in the same context as in which they are raised in post-trial motions and before this Court. *Armstrong v. Collins*, 366 S.C. 204, 225-26, 621 S.E.2d 368, 378-79 (Ct. App. 2005); *e.g. Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 391 S.C. 249, 255, 705 S.E.2d 65, 67 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding issue not preserved even though facts were argued, they were raised below as to a separate legal issue); *Sierra v. Skelton*, 307 S.C. 217, 414 S.E.2d 169, 171-72 (Ct. App. 1992) ("The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require a party to state the specific grounds for a directed verdict motion. Rule 50(a), SCRCP. These same grounds form the basis of the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.")

Nor does reciting elements in passing constitute preservation. "[C]onclusory statements unaccompanied by argument and citation to authority are insufficient to preserve an issue for appellate review." *State v. Crocker*, 366 S.C. 394, 399 n.1, 621 S.E.2d 890, 893 n. 1 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Fields v.*

Melrose Ltd. P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that failure to provide argument or supporting authority for an issue renders it abandoned) and *Toal*, *supra* at 75-76 (2d. ed. 2002)); *see, e.g., Cunningham v. Anderson County*, 414 S.C. 298, 302, 778 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2015) (determining that “a mere reference to [a] case in a document filed with the court insufficient to preserve the argument” made in court as to the manner in which the case applied).

Finally, where the jury needs to decide a factual issue to which it must apply the law, it is incumbent on an appellant to show that it sought a jury charge on the issue. Here, Appellant seeks to undo the entire proceedings based on a factual dispute (what Bright knew) that needed to be charged to the jury so it could apply the charged law to the facts. A party may not assert the improper application of the law where it did not seek to have the jury charged on the point (or otherwise preserve an objection to the charge). *State v. Humphries*, 325 S.C. 28, 36, 479 S.E.2d 52, 57 (1996) (“[D]efense counsel never requested charges on the statutory mitigating circumstances pertaining to diminished capacity. Absent such a request, the issue is not preserved.”). If Bob Bright’s knowledge (a disputed fact) was, in fact, a legal requirement or element of the BOCAFA claim, then the jury needed to be so informed so it could resolve the disputed issue and apply the law charged. Appellant never preserved an issue as to the charge.

2. Appellant ignores the standard of review and relies solely on disputed evidence viewed in the light most favorable to it.

“In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of the appellate court extends merely to the correction of errors of law, and a factual finding by the jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses that there is **no evidence** which reasonably supports the jury's findings.” *Erickson v. Jones St. Publr., LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663-64 (2006) (emphasis added) (citing *Townes Assoc, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976)).

In reviewing the motions for directed verdict and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, this Court must view the evidence and all inferences that may reasonably be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to Parker. *Triple E, Inc. v. Hendrix & Dail, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 186, 189-90, 543 S.E.2d 245, 246 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations omitted).

As discussed above in the Facts section, Appellant's statement of “Relevant Facts” is based on hotly-disputed testimony the jury clearly saw fit to resolve in Parker's favor. Appellant has not appealed the findings related to either the existence of a contract or its breach. Even if it had, it is the exclusive province of the jury to determine whom it believes, and to what extent. See *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 569 n.5, 748 S.E.2d 265, 273 (Ct. App. 2013) (citations omitted); accord *Fredericks v. Commercial Credit Co.*, 145 S.C. 380, 387, 143 S.E. 179, 181 (1928) (“[I]t is not for this Court to pass on the credibility of witnesses--that is a matter for the jury.”) The jury was even free to completely disbelieve uncontradicted testimony. *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 409-10,

477 S.E.2d 715, 726 (Ct. App. 1996) (quoting *Black v. Hodge*, 306 S.C. 196, 198, 410 S.E.2d 595, 596 (Ct. App. 1991)).

Appellant's version of the facts rests on testimony that led to more than two dozen instances of impeachment by way of prior, inconsistent deposition testimony: Garland five times;⁹ Meyer five times;¹⁰ Lewis twice;¹¹ and Bob Bright *thirteen* times.¹²

At a trial where Bright's veracity was a central issue, the jury also was able to observe Bright, on numerous occasions, argue, issue bizarre directives to

⁹ (1) Tr. p. 266, line 23 – p. 268, line 17, p. 269, line 25 – p. 270, line 18 (citing r. p. 596, line 18 – p. 53, line 1, p. 592, line 23 – p. 593, line 17); (2) Tr. p. 274, line 25 – p. 276, line 14 (citing r. p. 590, line 20 – p. 591, line 2); (3) r. p. 276, line 21 – p. 277, line 15 (citing r. p. 591, lines 3-8); (4) r. p. 278, line 15 – p. 279, line 2 (citing r. p. 594, lines 3-8); and (5) r. p. 287, line 13 – p. 288, line 16 (citing r. p. 595, lines 7-14).

¹⁰ (1) Tr. p. 301, lines 12-16, r. p. 311, line 17 – p. 313, line 16 (citing r. p. 601, lines 12-16); (2) r. p. 316, line 6 – p. 318, line 3 (citing r. p. 601, line 23 – p. 602, line 1; *id.* p. 603, lines 1-14); (3) r. p. 320, line 7 – p. 321, line 2 (citing r. p. 604, lines 13-16); (4) r. p. 322, lines 7-15 (citing r. p. 605, lines 11-13); and (5) r. p. 323, lines 1-11, r. p. 324, line 18 – r. p. 325, line 3, r. p. 327, line 16 – p. 428, line 9.

¹¹ (1) Tr. p. 427, lines 7-25; r. p. 428, line 22 – supp. r. p. 608, line 25 (citing r. p. 598, line 25 – p. 599, line 4); and (2) r. p. 429, line 15 – p. 430, line 18 (r. p. 600, lines 10-16).

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